RECEIVED 12-09-2019

No. 2019AP1376-OA

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT In the Supreme Court of Wightyngonsin

NANCY BARTLETT, RICHARD BOWERS, JR. AND TED KENEKLIS,

PETITIONERS,

v.

TONY EVERS, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN, JOEL BRENNAN, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, CRAIG THOMPSON, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, PETER BARCA, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, AND WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

RESPONDENTS.

Original Action

INTRODUCTION

In 1930 the people of Wisconsin amended our state's Constitution granting the governor power to approve appropriation bills "in whole or in part." *See* Wis. Const. art. V, § 10. The need for this "partial veto" was rooted in the legislature's developing practice of enacting omnibus budget bills containing numerous appropriation items. Under prior law, the governor was forced to either approve or veto the entire package. The purpose of the amendment was to allow him to approve or veto each item individually.

Unfortunately, this Court has interpreted this partial veto provision to afford the governor vast authority to affirmatively enact new laws never drafted, approved, or even considered by the legislature. It has at various times permitted the governor to treat the approval of a budget bill as an acrostical puzzle – vetoing individual paragraphs, sentences, words, and letters to construct – and enact – laws not passed – or even dreamt of – by the legislature. Put differently, the Court's partial veto decisions have turned the governor into a one-person legislature in violation of the Wisconsin Constitution's separation of powers.

The most recent example of gubernatorial law-making is a set of partial vetoes by Governor Tony Evers in the 2019-21 biennial budget (2019 Wis. Act 9). The Governor transformed a school bus replacement program into a grant program for

1

alternative fuels; removed virtually all legislatively-imposed conditions on an appropriation for local road improvements; disrupted a carefully-calibrated registration fee schedule for truck drivers; and redefined and expanded the types of vapor products subject to new taxation. In each case, Governor Evers created a new law never approved by the legislature.

This case presents the Court with the chance to restore the partial veto to its original meaning and to restore the proper balance required by the basic separation of powers set forth in the Wisconsin Constitution. Petitioners ask the Court to declare the four partial vetoes challenged in this case unconstitutional and make clear that in Wisconsin it is the legislature that makes the laws.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether, in partially approving an appropriation bill pursuant to Article V, § 10 of the Wisconsin Constitution, the governor may strike parts of the bill which are essential, integral, and interdependent parts of those which were approved.

2. Does Article V, § 10's direction that appropriations bills may be approved in whole or in part permit the governor to strike words in a way that transforms the meaning and purpose of the law, changing it into a different law?

 $\mathbf{2}$

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the important constitutional question involved herein, this case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The History of Wisconsin's Partial Veto

This case involves the interpretation of the governor's partial veto power, which is set forth in Wis. Const. art. V, § 10. To provide the Court with an understanding of the proper scope of that power, this brief will first review the history of the partial veto's enactment, which is well-documented, *see generally*, *e.g.*, Richard A. Champagne, Staci Duros, & Madeline Kasper, Legislative Reference Bureau, *The Wisconsin Governor's Partial Veto* (2019) [hereinafter *Partial Veto*], as well as the provision's past interpretations by this Court.

1. Proposal, Debate, and Enactment of the Partial Veto

In 1911, the Legislature began "packaging multiple appropriation measures into larger omnibus bills," and at roughly the same time Wisconsin adopted a more comprehensive budgeting process. *Partial Veto* at 3. In 1913, the legislature "waited until late in the session before presenting to the governor a few appropriation bills, which also happened to call for record expenditures." *Id.* This caused an exasperated Governor Francis McGovern to argue that such omnibus bills give the governor only two unpalatable alternatives: "sign[ing] the[] bills" in their entirety, even though certain parts were "defective," or "veto[ing] them as a whole, thus rejecting what I approved as well as what I disapproved." Lawrence Barish, Legislative Reference Bureau, *The Use of the Partial Veto in Wisconsin*, Information Bulletin 75– IB-6, 1 (1975). He concluded "that either the Wisconsin governor must be given the power to veto specific items or the individual items must be reported out as separate appropriation bills." *Partial Veto* at 3-4.

There the matter stood until 1927, when Senator William Titus asked the Legislative Reference Library "to draft a resolution 'to allow the Governor to veto *items* in appropriation bills." *Id.* at 6 (emphasis added). A communication from the Library to Senator Titus confirmed the Library's understanding that it was to prepare language "allow[ing] the Governor to veto *items* in appropriation bills." Pet. App. 119. The language it drafted – and which was ultimately adopted – granted the governor the ability to "approve[]" appropriation bills "in whole or in part." *Partial Veto* at 6, 8. There is "[n]othing in the drafting record" that expressly "sheds any light on" why the Library ultimately used "the word 'part' as opposed to 'item' in reference to the veto power." *Id.* at 6. But the record consistently supports an inference that "part" is meant to refer to provisions that could have been passed separately but that have been combined in a single omnibus bill.

4

After passing both houses of the legislature, the proposed amendment was again reintroduced during the 1929 legislative session, *see* Wis. Const. art. XII, § 1, this time by Senator Thomas M. Duncan. *Id.* at 6-7. The drafting file from 1929 again refers to the amendment as "allow[ing] the governor to veto items." Pet. App. 121.

The proposed amendment passed again and was sent to the voters for approval in November of 1930. *Partial Veto* at 7. The proposed amendment was given a new importance and relevance due to the fact that, during the 1929 legislative session, the legislature had passed a "new budgetary procedure" pursuant to which "the governor was made responsible for the budget estimates, which were then incorporated into a single appropriation bill." *Id.* at 7 & n.42.

In the months before the November 1930 vote, "[m]ost discussions on the amendment summarized the proposed power of the governor 'to veto single *items*' in appropriation bills rather than '*parts* of' appropriation bills." *Id.* at 7 (emphases added). An October 1930 Capital Times article, for example, quoted Senator Duncan as saying "[t]he *item* veto is absolutely indispensable" and that it would "merely giv[e] back to the governor the power" he had before the recent adoption of the new "budget system," when "most appropriations were divided into separate bills." *Duncan Tells Need for New Vote Powers*, The Capital Times, Oct. 14, 1930, at 7

 $\mathbf{5}$

Page 13 of 59

(emphasis added), Pet. App. 123. Senator Duncan explained to the public that the new veto power "would not invade the proper sphere of the legislature," *id.*, and was "not revolutionary, but on the contrary [was] in successful operation in 37 states," *Veto Rule Better Law Step, Claim*, Wisconsin State Journal, Oct. 13, 1930, at 7, Pet. App. 127. The League of Women Voters provided an "explanation of the proposal" for the press, describing the amendment as "enabl[ing] the governor to veto single *items* in an appropriations bill without vetoing the entire bill." *A Proposed Amendment*, Wausau Daily Record-Herald, Oct. 28, 1930, at 8 (emphasis added), Pet. App. 125.

Many other newspapers also described the proposed amendment as adopting an item veto. See, e.g., Veto Rule Better Law Step, Claim, supra, at 7 (article subtitled "Governor's Power to Kill Separate Items Indispensable, Senator Duncan Declares" (emphasis added)), Pet. App. 127; Partial Veto Power Fate Up to Voter, Wisconsin State Journal, Oct. 9, 1930, at 17 (explaining that the governor is currently "unable to disapprove objectionable items" (emphasis added)), Pet. App. 129; Veto Bill Gives Too Much Power Philip Declares, Oshkosh Northwestern, Oct. 30, 1930, at 3 (comparing the amendment to the Milwaukee mayor's power to "veto items in an appropriation bill" (emphasis added)), Pet. App. 133; Light Vote Is Expected Next Tuesday, Appleton Post-Crescent, Nov. 1, 1930, at 3 (noting that "a two-thirds legislative majority would be required to re-enact a vetoed *item*" (emphasis added)), Pet. App. 131.¹

The amendment was ultimately adopted by the people of Wisconsin on November 4, 1930. *Partial Veto* at 8.

2. Judicial Interpretation of the Partial Veto

The constitutional language relevant here has remained unchanged since it was originally enacted. It provides that "[a]ppropriation bills may be approved in whole or in part by the governor, and the part approved shall become law." Wis. Const. art. V, § 10 (1930); compare id. § 10(1)(b) (2019). This Court has interpreted these words in a number of cases since the provision's adoption, but the two most important cases for our purposes are *State ex rel. Wisconsin Tel. Co. v. Henry*, 218 Wis. 302, 260 N.W. 486 (1935) and *State ex rel. Kleczka v. Conta*, 82 Wis. 2d 679, 264 N.W.2d 539 (1978).

¹ To the extent the Court believes it necessary, Petitioners request that it take judicial notice of these newspaper articles, which are sources cited to apprise the court of "the ratification campaign that surrounded the voters' passage of the Amendment." *Appling v. Walker*, 2014 WI 96, ¶7, 358 Wis. 2d 132, 853 N.W.2d 888; *see* Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2)(b), (3)-(4).

i. State ex rel. Wisconsin Telephone Co. v. Henry

In its first case interpreting the partial veto, this Court was faced with Governor Philip La Follette's partial veto of a depression-era bill that imposed a tax and then appropriated the funds raised "for immediate emergency relief" in light of "statewide poverty and unemployment." *Henry*, 260 N.W. at 489. The governor largely approved the bill, but vetoed two subsections setting forth the legislature's purpose and a set of provisions which both created a new agency designed to disburse the funds raised and provided "some specific directions as to the manner and purposes" of the disbursement. *Id.* at 489-90.

The Court considered two questions: (1) whether the governor could "approve [an] appropriation" but veto a "proviso or condition inseparably connected to the appropriation" and (2) whether the governor could "disapprove parts of an appropriation bill that are not an appropriation." *Id.* at 490.

This Court declined to resolve the first issue, concluding that the vetoed parts were not "inseparably connected to the appropriation." *Id.* The Court suggested that "separab[ility]" depends on two things – whether what remains is "a complete, entire, and workable law" and whether the Legislature "would [] have enacted the [remaining] part alone," without the vetoed portions. *Id.* at 491–92. Nevertheless, this Court hinted that if

8

the vetoed provisions *had* been "inseparably connected to the appropriation," the veto would have been unlawful. *Id*. at 490.

In resolving the second question, namely whether the governor could veto non-appropriation text, this Court appeared to hold that governors may veto any portion of a bill, no matter how small. This Court noted that many partial-veto provisions in other states use the language "items' or 'any item of appropriation," whereas Wisconsin's version uses the word "part," without any other "qualifi[cation] or limit[]." *Id.* at 490-91. And the meaning of the word "part," according to the Court, was "unambiguous":

one of the portions, equal or unequal, into which anything is divided, or regarded as divided; something less than a whole; a number, quantity, mass, or the like, regarded as going to make up, with others or another, a large number, quantity, mass, etc., whether actually separate or not; a piece, fragment, fraction, member, or constituent.

Id. at 491 (quoting Webster's New International Dictionary 1781 (2d ed. 1934)). Therefore, the Court concluded, the governor could "pass independently on every separable piece of legislation in an appropriation bill." *Id.* at 492.

Although it was mitigated by the requirement that the remaining law was one the legislature would have enacted, *Henry*'s holding that separability is determined by examination of what remains as opposed to what has been stricken is inconsistent with the text and history of the partial veto. Given the language

of Article V, sec. 10 – which speaks of approval of a part – and the drafters' concern about the new legislative practice of combining laws which could have been passed separately, *Henry* should have asked whether the portion of the law *which was vetoed* would have been a complete and workable law. Had it proceeded in this way, the new partial veto would have remained a "veto" and not a license to build something new. Regardless, *Henry*'s basic framework was left undisturbed for decades. *See, e.g., State ex. rel. Sundby v. Adamany*, 71 Wis.2d 118, 130, 237 N.W.2d 910 (1976) (reaffirming rule). But in a decision handed down less than three years after *Sundby*, this Court abruptly changed course.

ii. Kleczka v. Conta

In State ex rel. Kleczka v. Conta, 82 Wis. 2d 679, 264 N.W.2d 539 (1978), this Court compounded the error it had made in *Henry*, putting the balance of our state's separation of powers even further out of whack. In *Kleczka*, this Court considered a law which would have permitted income tax filers to voluntarily add \$1 to their tax liability for deposit into the Wisconsin Election Campaign Fund. *Kleczka*, 82 Wis. 2d at 685. Through clever use of the partial veto, Acting Governor Schreiber edited the provision to provide that taxpayers could instead direct \$1 be put into the Fund "from the state general funds," a change that would "result in approximately \$600,000 in tax funds being expended directly for political purposes per annum." *Id.* Two legislators filed an original action

challenging the constitutionality of that veto and this Court rejected their claim. *Id.* at 682-83, 716.

Klezcka held that "[s]everability is indeed the test of the Governor's constitutional authority to partially veto a bill," but redefined "the test of severability" as "simply that what remains [is] a complete and workable law," entirely eliminating any consideration of legislative intent as expressed in important conditions and provisos. *Id.* at 707. The Court dismissed language to the contrary in *Henry* and *Sundby* as "dicta only" and as "inconsidered." *Id.* at 712-713.

Shockingly, the Court also declared that the governor's partial veto "authority is coextensive with the authority of the legislature to enact [a] policy initially." *Id.* at 709. Thus, the Court permitted the governor to take the raw material in an appropriations bill – sentences and words and letters – and through clever editing write an entirely different law. It read the power to approve (or not) into the power to transform. Put differently, it conflated an executive veto with the authority to legislate, giving the Governor the power to make law.

Notably, Justice Hansen dissented on the extent of the governor's partial veto authority. "[T]he fundamental concept of art. IV, sec. 1," Justice Hansen explained, "is that the legislative power of this state is confided exclusively to the legislature.... At some point [the exercise of the partial veto] constitutes the

enacting of legislation by one person, and at precisely that point the governor invades the exclusive power of the legislature to make laws." *Id.* at 719-20 (Hansen, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). The Court's prior cases had "recognized that there must be some limitation" on the partial veto, but the majority had "jettison[ed]" not only *Henry*'s limitation but "for all practical purposes, any other limitation on the partial veto power," allowing "one person [to] design his own legislation from the appropriation bills submitted to him." *Id.* at 722, 727.

Justice Hansen argued, instead, that "the partial veto power should be exercised only as to the individual components, capable of separate enactment, which have been joined together by the legislature in an appropriation bill." *Id.* at 726. To operationalize this concept, Justice Hansen proposed requiring that the "portions *stricken* must be able to stand as a complete and workable bill." *Id.* (emphasis added). This standard would be consistent with the purpose of the partial veto, which was "directed toward the legislative practice of uniting in a single bill various proposals," *id.* at 724–26, and would be "capable of even-handed and predictable application" without requiring the court to "mediate policy disagreements between the two other coordinate branches of our government," *id.* at 727.

iii. The Modern Partial Veto

As Justice Hansen predicted, by undercutting the separation of powers and eliminating any meaningful limit on the partial veto power, *Henry* and *Klezcka* cleared the path for governors to run with the veto pen as far as it could take them. And so they did.

In the 1980s, Governors Earl and Thompson pioneered what became known as the "Vanna White" veto, striking individual letters to form new words and sentences. *Partial Veto* at 15–16. Governor Earl, for example, combined letters from a five-sentence, 121-word paragraph into a single 22-word sentence. *Id*.

In 1988, based on this Court's prior partial veto jurisprudence, this Court upheld the Vanna White veto in *State ex rel. Wisconsin Senate v. Thompson*, 144 Wis. 2d 429, 434, 437, 424 N.W.2d 385 (1988). The Court made clear that its hands were tied because its prior cases, particularly *Klezcka*, dictated the outcome. *See, e.g., id.* at 449 (characterizing *Kleczka* as "significant for our present analysis"). The Court later reiterated, almost apologetically, that "our five earlier decisions . . . have ineluctably led to the decision we reach today." *Id.* at 462.

Three Justices dissented in part, raising textual and separation-of-powers concerns and suggesting that the Court's precedents had perhaps gone too far. *Id.* at 466–75 (Bablitch, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part, joined by Abrahamson and Steinmetz, JJ.).

Page 21 of 59

Circumstances deteriorated further in the 1990s and early 2000s, when Governors Thompson, McCallum, and Doyle developed and "aggressively used" a so-called "Frankenstein veto," patching together words from multiple sentences and paragraphs to form new sentences. *See Partial Veto* at 17. In one notorious example, Governor Doyle transformed a 752-word passage into a new 20-word sentence. *Id.* Such extensive editing allowed Governors "to embark on entirely new policy directions that had not even been considered by the legislature." *Id.* As suggested by the reasoning in *Wisconsin Senate*, these types of actions were made possible by *Kleczka*'s rejection of limitations imposed by prior case law.

Because this Court would not act to restore the separation of powers, the legislature and the people acted to explicitly prohibit two of *Klezcka*'s "ineluctabl[e]" by-products. Immediately following *Wisconsin Senate* (1990), in a first attempt to restore the separation of powers, the people of Wisconsin voted to amend the constitution to prohibit the Vanna White veto. *See* Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(c); Wisconsin Blue Book 1991–1992 at 883. The amendment passed overwhelmingly, 387,068 votes in favor to 252,481 votes against. *Id.* at 884.

That amendment proved to be insufficient to restore the balance, so in 2008, in response to Governor Doyle's use of the Frankenstein veto, the people of Wisconsin again amended the constitution to abolish it. And again the referendum passed overwhelmingly, 575,582 votes in favor to 239,613 votes against. Wisconsin Blue Book 2009–2010 at 892. The new amendment provided that, in exercising the veto authority, the Governor could not create a new sentence by combining parts of two or more sentences. *Id*.

But as shown by the vetoes in this case, a creative governor, relying upon *Henry* and *Kleczka*, is not prohibited from infringing upon the legislative power by the Vanna White and Frankenstein rules. He may create new sentences by eliminating words within a sentence, or create new paragraphs by eliminating entire sentences. Such actions still result in laws that the legislature did not enact, consider, or may even have rejected during the legislative process.

B. Background on Partial Vetoes Challenged in This Case

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