RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-23-2020

IN SUPREME COURT COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2019AP1376-OA

NANCY BARTLETT, RICHARD BOWERS, JR., and TED KENEKLIS.

Petitioners,

v.

TONY EVERS, in his official capacity as Governor of the State of Wisconsin, JOEL BRENNAN, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Administration, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, CRAIG THOMPSON, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, PETER BARCA, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Revenue, and WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondents.

ORIGINAL ACTION

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Constitution's plain text authorizes the partial vetoes challenged in this case.

The Constitution gives the Governor the authority to partially veto appropriation bills. Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(b). It expressly authorizes the Governor to approve such bills "in whole or in *part*." *Id*. The plain meaning of the word "part" is broad and not synonymous with the narrower term "item." *See infra* Argument II.A (comparing the words "part" and "item"). Any "part" is subject to veto, no matter how small.

Within this broad authority, the Constitution imposes only two specific constraints on the Governor. He "may not create a new word by rejecting individual letters . . . , and may not create a new sentence by combining parts of 2 or more sentences." Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(c). The text expresses no other limits on the Governor's partial-veto authority over appropriation bills.

The issue presented here is very simple: Did the partial vetoes at issue here comply with these basic textual rules? The answer is yes. The language stricken in the challenged vetoes constituted "part[s]" of the appropriation bill, and none of the deletions involved individual letters or combined sentences. (See Pet'rs' App. 105–15.) Therefore, the vetoes were authorized by the Constitution. Unless two-thirds of the Legislature vote to override those vetoes, Act 9, as signed by the Governor, is law.

II. The Constitution's plain text does not create the item veto that Petitioners seek.

Petitioners' quarrel is ultimately with the Constitution's text, not this Court's caselaw. When the Legislature chose the term "part" for Article V, § 10, rather than the word "item"—a narrower word used in many other state constitutions at the time the amendment was adopted—it permitted the Governor to veto any segment of an appropriation bill.

Petitioners respond with what amounts to an advocacy brief in support of a new constitutional amendment. Their argument boils down to this: Our state government would be better structured if the Governor had an item veto rather than a partial veto. But the only way to improve upon the public policy embedded in our Constitution is to amend it, just as the Legislature and the people removed some of the Governor's partial-veto authority by amendment in 1990 and 2008, and just as the Legislature has declined to create something like an item veto through at least ten rejected amendments.

Rather than take their case to the people, Petitioners ask this Court to impose new atextual limitations on the Governor's partial-veto power. To accomplish this *sub silentio* constitutional amendment, they ask the Court to reinterpret the term "part" in Article V, § 10(1)(b), to mean "item." Even if this were a case of first impression, and even if stare decisis did not overwhelmingly favor adhering to this Court's 85 years of partial-veto precedent, Petitioners should lose.

Three interpretive tools confirm that Article V, § 10, allows the partial vetoes at issue here: first, examining the provision's plain text; second, reading the original constitutional language in concert with the 1990 and 2008

Filed 01-23-2020

amendments, which cannot be rendered superfluous; and third, considering the multiple rejected amendments that would have revised the Constitution in basically the same way that Petitioners ask. All three sources confirm that this Court got it right in *Henry* and all its subsequent partialveto decisions—the Governor may excise any words when approving an appropriation bill "in part."

A. The plain text of Article V, § 10, allows the Governor to veto "parts" of appropriation bills, not just entire "items."

Constitutional interpretation begins with the plain text of the relevant provision. "Words or terms used in a constitution, being dependent on ratification by the people, must be understood in the sense most obvious to the common understanding at the time of its adoption." Payne v. Racine, 217 Wis. 550, 555, 259 N.W. 437 (1935) (citations omitted). Thus, constitutional language is presumed to "have been used according to [its] plain, natural, and usual signification and import, and the courts are not at liberty to disregard the plain meaning of words of a constitution in order to search for some other conjectured intent." Id.: see also Koschkee v. Taylor, 2019 WI 76, ¶ 23, 387 Wis. 2d 552, 929 N.W.2d 600 ("[W]e interpret an undefined constitutional term . . . [using] the plain meaning of the term at the time the constitutional provision was adopted."). A standard, respected dictionary may provide a word's generally understood meaning. See, e.g., State v. Sample, 215 Wis. 2d 487, 499–500, 573 N.W.2d 187 (1998).

Article V, § 10, has always provided that "[a]ppropriation bills may be approved in whole or in part by the governor." To understand the "plain, natural, and usual" understanding of the word "part," Payne, 217 Wis. at 555, it is appropriate to examine dictionaries at the time, just as

the *Henry* court looked to the *Webster's New International Dictionary*'s definition:

One of the portions, equal or unequal, into which anything is divided, or regarded as divided; something less than a whole; a number, quantity, mass, or the like, regarded as going to make up, with others or another, a larger number, quantity, mass, etc., whether actually separate or not; a piece, fragment, fraction, member or constituent.

Henry, 218 Wis. at 313 (quoting Part, Webster's New International Dictionary (2d ed. (1934)). By using the word "part," the Legislature and Wisconsin citizens authorized the Governor to excise things of almost any size from an appropriation bill, from the humble "fragment" to the potentially massive "something less than a whole," and everything in between.

Petitioners respond that the word "part" is capable of multiple meanings and that one more akin to the word "item" is more appropriate here. (Pet'rs' Br. 23–25.) They believe that, by using the word "part," Article V, § 10, means that "the portions stricken must be 'able to stand as a complete and workable bill' on their own." (Pet'rs' Br. 30.)⁵ A broad reading of the word "part" errs, in their view, because

⁵ Although Petitioners never expressly request an "item" veto, this proposed test is how an item veto would work. *Compare infra* Argument II.C.1. Leaving aside the test's lack of textual support, it would be hard to administer because it is unclear when stricken language could constitute a stand-alone bill. Take, for example, the challenged vehicle fee schedule vetoes. (Pet'rs' App. 112–13.) Petitioners seem to think that striking fee cuts for two weight classes was impermissible because those provisions cannot stand alone, but why not? Because the Legislature chose to impose fees by weight class, each fee is logically independent from the others. If an independent fee could not be passed as a "complete and workable bill," it is unclear what could.

it "eventually led the Court to conclude that the governor could veto individual words and even individual letters in the text of an appropriations bill." (Pet'rs' Br. 24.) But this amounts to a policy disagreement with the implication of the Legislature's choice of words, not anything that sheds light on what the constitutional text means.

Although Petitioners would prefer that "part" mean something akin to "item," three facts show that the original public meaning of the terms differ.

First, "[a]t the time Wisconsin approved the amendment, thirty-seven other states granted the governor the power to object to single items in appropriation bills, but no other state constitution utilized the word 'part' instead of 'item." *CUB*, 194 Wis. 2d at 491.6 The only conceivable conclusion one can draw from that fact is that, especially in the realm of constitutional veto provisions, "part" has a different original public meaning than "item."

Second, perhaps more telling, the Legislature in 1925 rejected an amendment that would have empowered the Governor to "disapprove or reduce *items or parts of items* in [an appropriation bill]." (R-App. 102 (1925 S.J. Res 23).) By proposing this language, the Legislature demonstrated its understanding that "parts" and "items" are different and, crucially, that a "part" is a smaller subdivision than an "item."

⁶ Petitioners speculate that Wisconsin used the word "part" only because other states' "item" vetoes purportedly do not reach non-appropriation measures within an omnibus appropriation bill. (Pet'rs' Br. 31–32.) But nothing in the only authority they cite, *Bengzon v. Secretary of Justice of Philippine Islands*, 299 U.S. 410 (1937), indicates that the vetoes at issue would have

Third, the contemporaneous understanding of the word "item" differs from "part." The same edition of Webster's quoted above defines "item" in pertinent part as: "An article, a separate particular in an enumeration, account, or total; a detail; as, the *items* in a bill." (R-App. 342 (Item, Webster's New International Dictionary (2d ed. (1934)).) In other words, an "item" is a coherent entity, a little whole subsumed in a larger whole. "Part" and "item" may overlap, but they are not synonymous. An "item" can sometimes be a "part," i.e., a "member or constituent," but it can never be "a piece, fragment, [or] fraction." Henry, 218 Wis. at 313.

The *Henry* court thus posed an apt rhetorical question that explains why Petitioners are wrong:

[I]f, in conferring partial veto power . . . , it was intended to give the executive such power only in respect to an item or part of an item in an appropriation bill, then why was not some such term as either "item" or "part of an item" embodied in that amendment, as was theretofore done in similar constitutional provisions in so many other states, instead of using the plain and unambiguous terms "part and "part of the bill objected to," without any words qualifying or limiting the well-known meaning and scope of the word "part?"

218 Wis. at 313. Clearly "part" meant something different and broader than "item," as this Court has rightly recognized starting in *Henry* and ever since.

survived if only the Philippines' veto provision had used the word "part" rather than "item."

B. Amendments to Article V, § 10, confirm this Court's traditional reading of the partial-veto power.

If the Constitution's plain text were not enough to confirm that this Court has correctly interpreted Article V, § 10, the 1990 and 2008 amendments remove any doubt. Again, the 1990 amendment provided that: "In approving an appropriation bill in part, the governor may not create a new word by rejecting individual letters in the words of an enrolled bill." Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(c) (1991–92). And the 2008 amendment added that the Governor "may not create a new sentence by combining parts of 2 or more sentences of the enrolled bill." Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(c) (2007–08).

Those amendments provide a crucial interpretive tool for understanding what the word "part" means in Article V, § 10. As Petitioners correctly note, "indications of the will of the people are valuable in interpreting the meaning of constitutional provisions." (Pet'rs' Br. 39 (citing *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 44, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328).) And they are right that "[e]ven subsequent constitutional amendments can shed light on the original meaning of constitutional provisions." (Pet'rs' Br. 39 (citing *Alden v. Maine*, 527 U.S. 706, 720–27 (1999).) But those principles backfire on Petitioners for three related reasons.

First, those 1990 and 2008 amendments only make sense if "part" meant what it says and what this Court has long held: any fragment of a bill, not an entire stand-alone item. If, as Petitioners claim, Article V, § 10, only permitted the Governor to veto entire *items* in an appropriation bill, those two amendments would not have been necessary—the Constitution already would have forbidden the Governor from vetoing individual letters and combining sentences. But it is precisely because Article V, § 10, *allowed* such veto

practices (and everything short of them) that the amendments were necessary.

Second, Petitioners' theory improperly renders the 1990 and 2008 amendments superfluous. "[C]onstitutional provisions, should be construed to give effect 'to each and every word, clause and sentence' and 'a construction that would result in any portion of [the constitution] being superfluous should be avoided wherever possible." Wagner v. Milwaukee Cty. Election Comm'n, 2003 WI 103, ¶ 33, 263 Wis. 2d 709, 666 N.W.2d 816.

If Article V, § 10(1)(b) only permits the Governor to veto entire items, as Petitioners say, then Article V, § 10(1)(c) would have no independent effect. Subsection (b) would already prevent the Governor from "creat[ing] a new word by rejecting individual letters" and "creat[ing] a new sentence by combining parts of 2 or more sentences"—there would be no need for subsection (1)(c)'s express prohibition of those tactics. There is simply no way to harmonize subsection (1)(c) with Petitioners' reading of subsection (1)(b). Only the plain text reading of the word "part"—the one this Court has long recognized—gives effect to all subsections of Article V, § 10.

Third, the 1990 and 2008 amendments show that restrictions on the partial-veto power must be stated expressly and are not implied by the word "part." When the people desired to prevent the Governor from deleting letters in appropriation bills, they expressed their will by adding Article V, § 10(1)(c), to the Constitution. And when the people desired to prevent the Governor from combining multiple sentences, they again expressly said so by amending that subsection. In both cases, the people recognized that the Constitution's existing language did not impose these restrictions, and so new express language was needed to do so.

The same is true here—a new constitutional amendment is necessary to impose the new partial-veto restrictions that Petitioners seek. It simply makes no sense that amendments were needed to prevent the Governor from deleting individual letters and combining sentences, but a comparably specific restriction on his ability to veto individual words can somehow be discovered in the word "part."

At bottom, the 1990 and 2008 amendments demonstrate that Petitioners ultimately have a policy disagreement with the existing constitutional text. The framers of those amendments also believed that the existing constitutional text gave too much power to the Governor. But those framers also recognized what Petitioners miss: modifying the Constitution to conform to one's policy preferences requires a constitutional amendment, not constitutional litigation.

C. The Legislature's repeated decisions not to transform Article V, § 10 into an item veto through constitutional amendment show that it is not an item veto now.

The Legislature's repeated decisions not to amend Article V, § 10, also confirm that transforming it into an item veto would require a constitutional amendment. First, much like the successful 1990 and 2008 amendments, the rejected amendments presuppose that Article V, § 10, permits partial vetoes of individual words. Second, the Legislature's acquiescence in this Court's partial-veto decisions indicates that those decisions were correct.

1. The rejected amendments allow this Court to directly interpret the text of Article V, § 10(1)(b).

This Court has acknowledged that it can infer the meaning of a constitutional provision by examining the content of rejected amendments. In Wagner, at issue was Article VII, § 10, which prohibits judges from holding other public offices during their elected terms. 263 Wis. 2d 709. To decide whether the text allowed judges who resigned during their elected term to then hold another office, the Court examined a rejected amendment. Id. ¶¶ 32-40. Because the rejected amendment "would [have] allow[ed] activity that was previously prohibited"-i.e. it would have allowed judges to immediately assume another office upon resigning—the unamended constitutional text necessarily prohibited that activity. Id. ¶ 40. The Court reasoned that "[t]he people voted intelligently upon this proposition, which clearly evidences their intention, and, where such intention appears, the construction and interpretation of the acts must follow accordingly." Id. (citation omitted).

The same reasoning applies to the rejected amendments to Article V, § 10. Again, the Legislature has repeatedly declined to amend the provision into something like what Petitioners now request:

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